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THE HEBRIDES

When Dr Johnson, author of A Dictionary of the English Language, decided to leave behind his comfortable existence in London and travel to the Hebrides with his Scottish friend James Boswell, Boswell’s wife objected. What business could they have on these islands west of the Scottish mainland? She received the following answer: ‘Madam, we do not go there as to a paradise. We go to see something different from what we’re accustomed to see.’ Much has changed since Dr Johnson’s expedition in 1773, but many people still travel to the Hebrides for the same reason: to experience something different. Priceless qualities. People with time to chat and to say hello. Unlocked doors, bicycles and cars. Clean air and the sky full of seabirds, purple heather moorlands with wandering herds of deer and a golden eagle resting on the upward breeze. Beaches with clear, turquoise blue water that even the Thai tourist board has used in its brochures. An embarrassing advertising blunder by Thai authorities, of course, but what else could it be, ask VisitScotland, than ‘a compliment in disguise’?
The Inner Hebrides lie along Scotland’s west coast and stretch from fertile, whisky-marinated Islay in the south to mountainous Skye in the north. To the west of Skye lie the Outer Hebrides, on the other side of a stretch of open sea: the Little Minch. This is where blue men from the Gaelic underworld drown adventurous seamen voyaging to the outer isles, or Innse Gall, ‘the isles of the foreigners’, after the Norsemen who colonised the Hebrides. The Outer Hebrides extend in a long arc out towards the open Atlantic. The next stop beyond their unbroken white beaches is America.

THE INNER HEBRIDES
Kintyre, a peninsula – almost an island
The Kennacraig ferry landing on the Kintyre peninsula is little more than that. A ferry landing. Places like this are without lives of their own. They are parasitic. They come to life when ferries dock and, for an allotted length of time, they feed off the greasy exhaust of diesel engines, the bleating sheep staring out from behind the bars on the back of pick-ups, wet cyclists shivering, babies crying impatiently and tourists drumming on their steering wheels, feeling that they’ve been waiting far too long. The ferry’s belly opens and out roll its contents: some cars with kayaks on the roof, others with bikes tied on the back, the gangway clanging as the cars drive ashore. Men in yellow high-visibility vests and red helmets wave the waiting cars on board. There’s space for them all, patient or impatient. The drivers put on the handbrake and get out of their cars. A lone car alarm soon starts to wail – somebody locked their car in a moment of distraction – and other alarms soon join in, like a pack of wolves. A final farewell as the ferry slips away from the pier. Left behind, the ferry landing makes no fuss. It takes strength to have to be the one always left behind.

‘The ferry to Islay was due to leave at 5.30 p.m., but it’s been delayed,’ says the lady behind the desk at Kennacraig. It’s Easter. I’m in the low building that houses a waiting room and the ticket office. The windows are steamed up with the respiration of wet waiting passengers. On the wall behind the desk, someone has hung up small trophies, banknotes from Sweden, the United States and Italy.
Outside, the cars stand queued up in parallel lines. It’s raining and it’s getting dark. Far out in the Sound of Islay, I can vaguely make out a vessel. A car ferry belonging to Caledonian MacBrayne, or CalMac to its friends. The state-subsidised, berated and praised CalMac, linking together the Hebrides. Black and white ferries frequenting over twenty ports. For many people, this day marks Jesus’ last supper with his disciples, but for CalMac this is the last day of the winter season.
Once, Norway was about to annex the entire Kintyre peninsula from Scotland. The whole thing was down to a blunder by Edgar, King of the Scots. In 1098, he and King Magnus Barefoot of Norway signed a peace treaty. ‘You shall have the Hebrides, or what you call the Sudreys,’ said the Scottish king. The Norwegians had already controlled the islands for a long time, but it was now time to formalise a contract about the Norwegian territories. ‘But,’ added Edgar, thinking he was being crafty, ‘you shall only have the islands that you can sail round with the rudder shipped.’ By messing with the definition of what makes an island, the Scots lost Kintyre, or Saltire as the peninsula was known to the Norse then. Because who could have imagined that King Magnus was equally cunning, that he sat at the tiller while his boat was dragged across the narrow isthmus joining Kintyre to the rest of the mainland? The ancient Icelandic poet and historian Snorri Sturlason describes the incident in Magnus Barefoot’s Saga:
[…] when King Magnus came north to Cantire [Kintyre], he had a skiff drawn over the strand at Cantire, and shipped the rudder of it. The king himself sat in the stern-sheets, and held the tiller; and thus he appropriated to himself the land that lay on the farboard side. Cantire is a great district, better than the best of the southern isles of the Hebudes [Hebrides], excepting Man; and there is a small neck of land between it and the mainland of Scotland, over which longships are often drawn.
Snorri and the Orkneyinga saga maintain that King Magnus actually conquered Kintyre. Modern historians claim that this creative attempt at conquest was not entirely successful. Oh well. Even if King Magnus tried to remove Kintyre from the map of Scotland, nobody has done more to put Kintyre back on the map than Paul McCartney. If I had driven beyond the Kennacraig ferry landing on to the end of the road, I would have ended up in the small town of Campbeltown, the closest built-up area to Sir Paul McCartney’s High Park Farm. Paul and his family travelled here after the Beatles broke up in 1970. It was here he licked his wounds and recovered. When, a few years later, Wings released the song ‘Mull of Kintyre’, the effect was overwhelming. It sold more in the UK than any previous single. The music video for ‘Mull of Kintyre’ shows Linda, Paul and the Wings guitarist Denny Laine singing as they stroll down to the shore. In the distance, bagpipers can be made out. They swirl up the sand as they march straight towards the three band members. A local pipe band: the Campbeltown Pipers. Song, guitar and rubber wellies meet drums, pipes and kilts: ‘Mull of Kintyre, oh mist rolling in from the sea. My desire is always to be here, oh Mull of Kintyre.’
Soon, children, old women in headscarves and well-built farmers join the little band. It turns dark, they all stand gathered around a large bonfire singing their tribute to Kintyre, a secluded and uncontrived place where the McCartney family were allowed to stay more or less in peace. The Mull of Kintyre lies right at the end of the Kintyre peninsula, off the beaten track. An old lighthouse flashes warnings in the night. Northern Ireland can be glimpsed on the other side of the narrow strip of ocean separating the two countries.
Scotch

I’m not going to Campbeltown or to the Mull of Kintyre. I’m going to the whisky island of Islay.

The crossing from Kennacraig on the MV Hebridean Isles takes around two and a half hours. A bitter Atlantic wind is blowing this Easter evening. The voyage isn’t for those without their sea legs but, as always, some people sleep away, even on short distances like this. Passengers lie sprawled out on sofas and benches. Why are they so tired? Are they bored? Have they been working shifts? Or have they travelled far? It’s the residents who sleep. They’re easy to spot, already wearing summer shoes in March, golden sandals and bare, pale calves. None of them wear waterproof clothing. The tourists look like they’re going on a long Arctic expedition. Windproof, waterproof, warm clothes. Many with cameras and binoculars. If the weather’s nice enough, they stand on deck, their binoculars searching for killer whales and dolphins.
There’s also a bar on board. I order a whisky from Islay, a Lagavulin. A young passenger in the bar drinks an Irn-Bru, Scotland’s other national drink. This orange fizzy drink looks poisonous, tastes artificial and has been produced since 1901. It’s well loved in Scotland, but is poorly suited to the export market. Unlike whisky.

But what is whisky, Scotland’s foremost national drink? Put simply, whisky is distilled beer without hops. Scotch whisky must be made in Scotland and aged for at least three years, in oak barrels. Its alcoholic strength must be at least forty percent volume at bottling. How many whisky regions there are in Scotland depends upon whom you ask, but one of the traditional classifications distinguishes whisky from the Highlands, Lowlands, Islay, Speyside, and Campbeltown in Kintyre. There are two main types of whisky: grain whisky made from various types of grains, and malt whisky from malted barley.
So far, so good, but hold on tight as it’s about to get a bit more complicated. If you’re holding a bottle with ‘malt whisky’ on the label, then it’s made from malted barley. If all the whisky comes from one distillery, then you’ve got hold of a single malt, and if the whisky also comes from the very same barrel, you’re holding a bottle of single cask. If, on the other hand, you pour yourself a glass of blended malt, then you’re drinking a mixture of malt whiskies from different distilleries.

Why all this hair splitting, you ask? For one simple reason: if you’re going to get something out of a tour of Islay’s whisky distilleries, you have to have done your homework first. Alright, so if you’ve poured yourself a blended Scotch whisky, then you’re drinking a mixture of grain whisky and malt whisky, and it’s highly likely that the malt whisky in this blend comes from Islay. At one time, most of the whiskies from the island went into blends, to big names like Johnny Walker, Chivas Regal, Bells, White Horse or Famous Grouse. Then something dramatic happened. Pure malt whiskies became sought-after items. The market can’t get enough. Whisky pilgrims flood to Islay like never before.
[…]

[…]

Burnt Eigg Rolls

One early January morning in 1994, when one of the inhabitants of Eigg was on her way to work, she saw black smoke rising up into the winter sky down by the pier. When she got closer, she saw dying flames licking a burnt-out wreck. It soon became clear to everyone that Schellenberg’s 1927 Rolls Royce had driven its last journey on Eigg. The newspapers, of course, couldn’t contain themselves. ‘Burnt Eigg Rolls,’ reported the Sun. It’s unlikely that Schellenberg laughed at the double entendre. The next day, he arrived on the island accompanied by police from the mainland. He was angry. No, he was furious. Like some people become when they’re afraid. And Schellenberg was seriously afraid. He believed that the attack on his vintage car was a well-organised conspiracy on the part of the island population, and he portrayed them in the press as cannabis-smoking hippies, and communists. The English incomers, of whom he was actually one, had compromised and destroyed the Hebridean culture and incited people to revolution. ‘He called us among other things the Red Army,’ Camille recalled as we took our stroll, leaning into the wind. Schellenberg’s remarks had only one effect: to strengthen the bond between the incomers and the island’s original inhabitants. They sent an open letter to Schellenberg, which was printed in the West Highland Free Press in January, saying for example:
[…] The island has a small but united population of local families and incomers who are between them struggling to develop a community with a long-term future against the apparent wishes of an owner who seems to want us to live in primitive conditions to satisfy his nostalgia for the 1920s.

Schellenberg saw the fire as a direct attack on his person. ‘It is a very worrying climate,’ he told the Independent. ‘It was once the laird’s factor who went about burning people out. Now it seems it’s OK to burn out the laird himself.’

A German artist by the name of Maruma

In 1995, rumours were going around that Schellenberg had sold Eigg. According to the rumours, he was experiencing financial problems, partly due to his divorce from his third wife. Schellenberg denied the rumours but turned up on Eigg nevertheless, and packed his bags.
He had indeed sold Eigg! To a German with the nom d’art Maruma. He had been given the name by a guru who had read the name in a dirty puddle in Abu Dhabi, according to McIntosh. Marlin Eckart, as he was really called, was a professor and a painter, and it was said he had made it big and become rich by selling his paintings. The agreement to buy Eigg, according to the rumours, had been written on a napkin during a dinner party late one night in the Lodge. The people of Eigg were in shock. What were they supposed to make of a laird from Stuttgart who made paintings by igniting the canvas, thereby establishing a telepathic connection between his own imagination and the elements: fire. What kind of a laird was Maruma? And what did he know about owning an island in the Hebrides?
Like so often before, it started off painlessly. Maruma said, for example, that he was willing to pay to remove all the rusty derelict cars that had piled up in farmyards and in gardens. He also wanted to build a new ferry pier and to buy a boat that the island’s residents could use. Absolutely free. In an interview with the Scotsman, after a few hours on the island, he said:

I love this island. When I went to the cave, I knew it was the right place to be. The cave is the soul of the island, because that is where it has been wounded. This is what the Maori believe – the cave is special. It is like a woman’s birth canal… the uterus. All the pain is there, and yet so is the energy. Do you understand?
Massacre Cave
The cave to which Maruma refers is called Massacre Cave. The entrance is so insignificant that it is difficult to find. A narrow chink in the rock. Slippery green algae grow on the pale stones by the entrance. You have to crawl on all fours to explore the cave passage. Take a lantern if you want to explore this cave, says the brochure from the Scottish Wildlife Trust. I don’t want to crawl into the darkness. I know that there’s a place inside the darkness where the narrow crevice widens into a large space. A shelter from the past. A safe hiding place. Right until disaster struck Eigg’s population one winter day at the end of the 1500s.
Uamh Fhraing (literally the Cave of Frances), or Massacre Cave, was one of the crime scenes in a spiral of bloody acts of revenge between the Clan MacDonald, who owned Eigg, and the Clan MacLeod. It is never easy to say where such a spiral starts, and there are differing versions of the episodes of violence, depending on which clan is writing the story. There is therefore a tendency for the stories to contradict each other when it comes to who did what, and when the atrocities or the acts of heroism – depending on how you look at them – took place. Many of the stories have been handed down orally. That doesn’t mean they are any less true than written accounts, as war propaganda lies anyway, but it is difficult to know how many victims each misdeed had. The clans perhaps boasted of more victims than they actually had on their conscience. Incidents that took place several hundred years ago do therefore have to be taken with a large pinch of salt. But that the incidents took place is almost beyond doubt.
The feud that led to the massacre on Eigg is said to have kicked off after a grave insult against the MacLeods by members of Clanranald, one of the branches of the Clan Donald. The offending statements came during a gathering of clan chiefs on the island of Mull. The Clan MacLeod was derided for having a dirty pedigree: there was Norwegian blood in their veins! This was a slap in the face. The name of the first chief, Ljótr, or Leòd in Gaelic, was of Norse origin, as were the names of his two sons, who were the first to bear the name of MacLeod: Torquil and Tormod.
But the escalation of the conflict started in earnest when a storm forced a ship, carrying men of Clan Donald, to land on the island of Harris in the Outer Hebrides. The MacLeods did not welcome the castaways. They saw it fit to behead every single one of the soaking wet sailors, fix their heads to a rope and give them as a gift to the governor of Harris. Such a mean act naturally demanded revenge. Soon, a boat of MacLeod men was captured off an island that was MacDonald territory, and all thirty-six men were thrown into a dungeon, where they remained until they starved to death.
Later, when a boat of MacLeods was forced to seek shelter close to Eigg, they decided not to go ashore. History had shown how badly it could go if you asked for help from the MacDonalds. Instead, they moored by Castle Island, a small islet just off Eigg. The men helped themselves to a couple of cattle at pasture and harassed the girls who had been looking after them. That’s at least what the MacDonalds’ version says, while the MacLeods’ version says that the castaways were denied hospitality. It is, however, the Clan Donald’s version that recurs in most sources, and attacking the girls from Eigg was not something the MacLeods should have done. To kill and cook the cattle might have been alright, but to harass or rape the girls was beyond forgiveness. The MacLeods were tucking into their dinner when the MacDonalds of Eigg attacked, killing them all except for their two leaders, for whom another punishment was intended. Their arms and legs were broken, some versions tell that they were castrated, and then they were put on a boat with no oars or sail, and sent on a final, fatal voyage. Or so the MacDonalds thought. But the boat drifted with the currents and the wind back to Dunvegan on Skye, the castle and seat of the Clan MacLeod, where a furious chief swore to take vengeance on the murderers. A group of boats soon set sail from Skye, ready for ‘Operation Eigg’.
The MacDonalds probably didn’t know that the boat with the battered MacLeods had drifted back to Skye and that the clan chief now knew the details of the story, but it still stands to reason that the population of Eigg must have been watching out for revenge missions. When the sails of the MacLeods’ boats appeared outlined against the winter sky, the people of Eigg knew what lay in store for them, unless they hid in the cave that was their traditional and perfect hiding place. It was right down by the sea. The narrow entrance was hidden behind a waterfall. No living person would guess that there, behind the waterfall and through a low, narrow tunnel, the passage widened into a large chamber with space for several hundred people. Or for 395 people, as hid in this case on a winter’s day in 1577.

The men of Clan MacLeod searched Eigg for three days. The small villages lay empty. The livestock was there of course, but otherwise there was not a person in sight. Except, as in all tales of atrocities in the Hebrides, an old lady. She was a tough cookie, and when this enraged gang tried to force her to tell them where the people had gone, she is said to have answered: ‘If it comes through my knee, it cannot be helped, but it shall not come through my mouth.’ This answer, her stubbornness and courage could have been taken straight from an Icelandic saga. They burnt her house and destroyed her harvest. ‘Ha!’ she mocked them, showing no respect. She could seek shelter under the rocks: those were her home. Besides, there was always a splendid meal to be had of seafood down at Laig Bay, where there were all the shellfish she could wish for. The furious MacLeods combed the sand for shells and threw them away. The tough cookie laughed; she still had the seaweed to eat, not to mention the delicious cress by the well at Hulin. The MacLeods gave up the search, the whole population must have fled to another island. They went to their boats with a strong feeling of having been completely swindled, and cast off. Then a shout was heard from one of the boats. A finger pointed towards the southern point of Eigg, at a figure against the fresh, white snow that had fallen that night.
The MacDonalds had sought refuge for three days in the safe, but damp and dark cave, when they decided to send out a scout to see if it was safe to head back home. If they had waited another hour or two, the spiral of violence might have flattened out. And if it hadn’t also snown that very night, this and other massacres might have been avoided. But just as the MacLeods’ boats rounded the point on the southern side of Eigg, they saw the scout. And he saw them.
The tracks in the snow led the men from Skye, thirsty for revenge, straight to the waterfall. They immediately saw how everything fit together. Perhaps they held a conference at the cave opening. It was clear to see there was only space for one man at a time to pass through the narrow passage, and furthermore he would have to crawl on all fours, so they could forget sending in an assault force. Also, if they crawled into the cave, they would all be cut down somewhere inside the tunnel, one by one. No, that was not a good plan. A bright spark soon found the solution. Someone was tasked with redirecting the water course. Others fetched twigs and heather, and anything flammable was put in a huge pile inside the cave opening. The easiest thing was to suffocate the MacDonalds. With smoke.
The story goes that the clan chief agonised about exterminating the entire island’s population. Perhaps he was struck with some form of compassion, or a feeling of Old Testament-style justice. To wipe them all out, the children and elderly too, was far beyond an eye for an eye. He left the decision to God and to chance. If the wind blew towards the cave at day’s end, the bonfire would be lit. If the wind blew from the cave, the refugees would be set free. A breeze from the south grew in strength, sealing the fate of the people of Eigg.
In Victorian times, tourists flocked to the mass grave on Eigg, plundering it for souvenirs. Skulls found their way to polished desks in London or behind glass display cases in museums.

In 1846, the geologist Hugh Miller wrote the following:

[…] we come across heaps of human bones grouped together […]. They are of a brownish, earthy hue, here and there tinged with green; the skulls, with the exception of a few broken fragments, have disappeared; for travellers in the Hebrides have of late years been numerous and curious; and many a museum […] exhibits a grinning skull, its memorial of the Massacre at Eigg. We find, too, further marks of visitors in the single bones separated from the heaps and scattered over the area; but enough still remains to show, in the general disposition of the remains, that the hapless islanders died under the walls in families, each little group separated by a few feet from the others. […] And beneath every heap we find, at the depth […] of a few inches, the remains of the straw-bed upon which the family had lain […].
In 1979, the last skull in the cave to date was found by a boy holidaying on Eigg. The skull belonged to a child aged five or six.

Creditors

In spite of his eccentric behaviour, the new owner Maruma was making a good impression, especially on the older inhabitants of Eigg. He personally visited every individual on the island to introduce himself. No previous owner of Eigg had done that. If they did drop in, it was without knocking and they would go to lift the lid of the pots to check if the simmering contents, for example a rabbit, had been poached from their estate. No, previous lairds, including Schellenberg, used to summon them all to the Lodge when they wanted to announce what plans they had made for Eigg.
But there was still something odd about Maruma, writes McIntosh. He didn’t look rich, walking around in his jeans, bright red shirt and black beret. He didn’t look like a laird or a millionaire. The journalists clearly didn’t think so either. The German magazine Stern was soon able to reveal that he was unknown in the art world, and that he was not a professor at all. All that was certain was that he was in massive debt and that German legal authorities were trying to auction off all of his allegedly valuable paintings to cover his debts. The pictures were worthless.

People on Eigg would soon realise that the new laird was a big, broken swizz. The fate of Eigg reached all the way to Parliament and to the newspaper editors. The pressure for land reform in Scotland was increasing in strength. TV crews from Japan, France and New Zealand helicoptered in to report on the absurd situation.
It wasn’t political reforms that led to Eigg ending up back on the market the year after Maruma had bought it. It was down to Maruma’s creditor, a German businessman in Hong Kong. He simply wanted to get his money back. A property company by the name of Vladi Private Islands was given the job of selling Eigg. As Vladi, the company’s owner, told the Scotsman quite precisely in 1996, ‘Scottish islands are the Van Goghs on the international island market, masterpieces of mother nature’, before continuing to tell newspaper readers enthusiastically that buying an island is like owning a miniature world, surrounded by water on all sides, where you can be king, where you can enjoy the peace of a private life with friends and family.
I have seen the Vladi Private Islands website. What all the property schedules have in common is that it is difficult, if not impossible, to find out if the islands are inhabited, whether they are in Italy, Canada or Norway. It is much easier to find out whether the island is populated by rabbits than how many people live there.
In any case, in 1996, Eigg was back on the property market. The Eigg Trust worked hard and effectively in collaboration with local authorities and the Scottish Wildlife Trust. They mobilised Eigg Music Aid, with famous musicians holding concerts to raise money. In November, an anonymous rich lady from England felt sympathy for their cause. She donated a significant sum of money, and the SWT mobilised its sister organisations to make contributions towards the purchase. This time they wouldn’t be caught napping by some millionaire, with or without money.
The Eigg Heritage Trust can’t believe its ears, makes a bid and receives a gift from Talisker

In January 1997, it was therefore in disbelief that the Eigg Trust received the news that a representative of the opera singer Luciano Pavarotti had expressed his interest in buying Eigg for 2 million pounds, high above the asking price. Reportedly to build a centre for 3,000 students of classical music! According to Camille Dressler, the local authorities nearly fell off their chairs. Diplomatically, the authorities explained that the lack of facilities on Eigg, which had a population of around seventy people, might present problems when it came to accommodating thousands of first-rate musicians.
It soon transpired that Pavarotti probably didn’t have a clue where Eigg was, never mind intending to buy the island, and that he didn’t know about the supposed bidding organisation, which called itself the ‘Pavarotti Foundation’. The apparent representative of the tenor was revealed as another of Maruma’s creditors. The entire media circus around Pavarotti was an attempt to raise the price of Eigg.

That was it for Maruma’s main creditor. Eigg was his security, and he took the legal route to get his money back. On 4 April 1997, his solicitors accepted the offer from the Isle of Eigg Heritage Trust to buy the island for 1.5 million pounds. The official takeover was to take place on 12 June. The island was turned upside down in preparation for the big celebration. A great influx was expected of friends, supporters, relatives and journalists. The Talisker distillery on Skye, founded by the MacAskill brothers from Eigg, donated ninety bottles of twenty-five-year-old malt whisky. Eigg celebrated the abolition of its feudal status for three whole days and nights.
‘What has changed most in Eigg?’, I asked Michael Butler as we stood and looked across the sea from the Singing Sands. ‘The people who live here now own the island. That’s changed their entire attitude. They don’t moan about Schellenberg any more. They’re happier.’ As if speaking to himself and to his memories – which are perhaps like the paths on Eigg, some clear and easily accessible, others overgrown, hidden behind tall, greedy bracken blocking out the sun – he added: ‘And the strange thing about Schellenberg is that people say that he was nice to visitors, but he never invited us to the Lodge, even if we were descendents of one of the owners. It’s not that it mattered in itself. It was just strange that he didn’t. We didn’t feel we belonged to the island when he was here.’
Exodus from Rum

The ferry MV Lochnevis, which sails from Eigg to Rum, takes up to sixteen cars. But cars cannot be taken to Rum either, without special permission. Rum. With tall mountains – the Rum Cuillin. And around a thousand red deer, many of which are part of a large research project. How are their numbers affected, for example, if they’re left alone? Which individuals survive? Which succumb and why? When Scottish Natural Heritage bought the island for a song in 1957, it was on the condition that they managed the island as a national park and maintained the Castle. The island was otherwise quite uninhabited.
At Whitsunday in 1825, the families on Rum were given notice to quit. Chief Maclean of Coll ordered them to leave their homes within one year. The forced eviction had already been carefully planned: Maclean offered to pay their passage if they wished to emigrate to Cape Breton in Canada. The whole of Rum was to be emptied of people. As soon as possible. Around four hundred people were to make way for 8,000 sheep and one herdsman from the mainland. Maclean had finally found The Solution: sheep farming was far more profitable than the pitiful income he wrested in rent from his poor clansmen on Rum. No, he would do like the other lairds: get rid of the dead meat. One of his herdsmen, John MacMaister, would much later describe the exodus from Rum that summer in 1826. The event certainly etched itself into his mind and stayed there for the rest of his life. Like a traumatic wound constantly being opened, completely involuntarily, just as fresh each time, and without the soothing cocoon that the memory usually spins around unpleasant incidents:
[…] the people of the island were carried off in one mass, from the sea-girt spot where they had been born and bred, and where the bones of their forefathers were laid in the ancient graveyard of Kilmory. [… T]he wild outcries of the men, and the heart-breaking wails of the women and their children filled all the air between the mountainous shores of the bay.

On 11 July, three hundred people from Rum went aboard ships with the almost mocking names Dove of Harmony and Highland Lad. Only a few of them were allowed, with some reservation, to stay on Rum. The voyage to Canada took thirty-seven days. When the emigrants went ashore on the other side of the Atlantic in late August, it was too late for them to sow and get a harvest that could keep them going through a snow-covered Canadian winter.
Nobody knows how many people from Rum arrived in Canada alive, but documents from the Nova Scotian authorities state that the Harmony arrived in Canada again the next year with more Scots on board. The passenger lists showed that two hundred emigrants had joined the ship in Scotland. During the voyage, eighteen people were committed to a watery grave from the dirty, overcrowded vessel. Furthermore, twenty-two passengers had measles when they arrived, which was then a deadly illness.

Those who stayed on Rum also had to leave. After two years, in 1828, most followed in the wake of their neighbours and friends over the Atlantic to Canada, on the St Lawrence. The ship would soon feature in one of the famous maritime novels of the time, Redburn. As a young man, the author, Herman Melville, had been berthed on the same St Lawrence that carried the former residents of Rum. His voyage, the miserable conditions on board and the extremely brutal crew inspired him to write his novel Redburn. Two years later, he would publish another seafaring novel that would become much more well-known: Moby Dick.
John Bullough and George Bullough

When the Englishman John Bullough bought Rum in 1888, there were 6,000 sheep grazing on the island. The number of inhabitants had risen again to around one hundred souls. The residents had two things in common: they all worked on the farm, and none of them were born on Rum.
Bullough was one of the richest men in Britain. The new laird knew Rum well. He had paid for hunting rights there for a number of years. The six hundred deer that the earlier owners had imported were clearly thriving and breeding quickly in their new barren and moist habitat. When Rum was advertised for sale in The Times, John Bullough knew what kind of a place he was making an offer on, unlike many others who bought property in the Hebrides.

Bullough didn’t have a chance to make much of an impact on his recently acquired Highland dream. He died three years after buying the island, only fifty-three years old, leaving Rum and half of his fortune to his son George. George Bullough was twenty-one years old when he was told to come back from the round-the-world sail upon which he had embarked. Or had he been sent away? According to rumours, he had shown a bit too much interest in his young step-mother, and his father thought it was best to send him to the other side of the planet, thus redirecting the tall, young George’s attentions.
While his father and grandfather had built up a fortune through hard work, industrial inventions and patents, George would soon turn out to have an unusual talent for spending money. One of his first major investments was a 210-foot-long steam-engined schooner. Of course, George Bullough saw no reason to settle down when he inherited his fortune, and set off on new round-the-world cruises on his yacht, Rhouma. This vessel took him and his friends to South Africa, Japan, Australia, China, Burma and the USA. But George Bullough also had ambitions to make another journey. A social climbing trip. Straight up into the British aristocracy.
The Boer War
Few things work as well as a war when it comes to shaking up a society’s power structures. Moves are planned, chess pieces are repositioned, some people win, others make mistakes and are swept off the board. For George Bullough, the Boer War, in which British colonial power fought against the Dutch-descended Boers for gold and diamond rights in South Africa, would be a springboard to the British upper class.

George, Rhouma, and a crew of forty set sail for South Africa in December 1899. The ship served as a hospital ship for wounded soldiers in a war in which the author and doctor Arthur Conan Doyle had also signed up as a volunteer. Both these men would later be knighted for their efforts in the war.

Originally, Doyle wanted to serve as a soldier. He had written a lot about war, but now it was time to experience life on the front at first hand, he announced to his disbelieving family. But the forty-year-old author of the Sherlock Holmes series had eaten and drunk well for far too long, together with people like Oscar Wilde and the escapologist Houdini. He had already acquired an extensive belly, and was unsurprisingly rejected as unfit for active service when he signed up as a soldier for the Boer War.
His friendship with Houdini would incidentally turn sour due to Doyle’s enthusiasm for spiritualism. It went especially bad after a séance in which Houdini participated and Doyle’s wife, as medium, passed on messages from Houdini’s late mother. Houdini’s scepticism was more than confirmed when the written greeting came in English, since his mother actually only knew German. It turned even more dubious when his mother, through Lady Doyle of course, drew a cross at the top of the letter. Houdini’s mother was Jewish, and would never have dreamt of drawing a Christian cross if she was trying to write a message to her son, thought Houdini.
Anyway, life had been good to Doyle, and he didn’t become a soldier. Instead, he put his medical education from the University of Edinburgh to use and found work as a field doctor in South Africa. And his knowledge as a doctor would certainly be useful, although in a different way from that he had expected. Many more British died from typhoid fever than from the enemy’s bullets during the war in South Africa.
Sir George Bullough
In 1901, the hospital ship Rhouma sailed north again on course for Rum. Precisely why George Bullough left South Africa in the middle of the war is unknown. Perhaps he thought he had done his bit for his country. Perhaps he foresaw that the British were going to win. They had struck the Boers (and black Africans, even if few people worried about them at that time) at their weakest point: women and children. The British set up concentration camps, cordoning off large areas with barbed wire, and the Boers’ (and black Africans’) women and children died in the camps from fatigue, illness and malnutrition. It was an effective way in which to crush the Boer guerrillas’ fighting morale.

As thanks for his patriotic deeds in the Boer War, George Bullough was made Sir George Bullough, like his compatriot, Arthur Conan Doyle. It was rumoured that King Edward VII was an enthusiastic fan of Sherlock Holmes and that he hoped the knighthood would encourage Doyle to write more stories about the consummate detective that Doyle had thrown into the waterfall in The Final Problem. Doyle wanted to be freed from Sherlock. The detective was holding him back, he was blocking the path to the serious part of his authorship, thought Doyle. When Sherlock Holmes fell into the Swiss waterfall, 20,000 fans cancelled their subscriptions to Strand Magazine, which published the series. It isn’t easy to say who was more pleased, the editor of the Strand or Edward VII, when Holmes appeared again in the magazine, in the story The Return of Sherlock Holmes.
Not everybody was knighted for their efforts in the Boer War, even if it was rumoured that the war correspondent Winston Churchill could receive the Victoria Cross for the courage he had shown when his escort was attacked by the Boers. Fifty years would pass before he could call himself Sir Winston Churchill. In retrospect, this seems somewhat strange, viewed in light of the fact that George Bullough was knighted for having lent the Government 50,000 pounds and for having made available the Rhouma. When the schooner’s engines had built up steam and the yacht puffed out of Table Bay in Cape Town, the vessel had British officers on board. They were on their way to a well-deserved convalescence on an island they had barely heard of, and would be the first guests at George Bullough’s new castle, Rhum Castle. The grandson of a man who had worn wooden clogs his whole life could welcome the wounded officers to a two-storey castle of imported red sandstone, with towers and French windows, a residence in Edwardian style to replace his father’s humble hunting lodge.
The Luddites
The Castle was built with old money, capital that Bullough’s father and grandfather had earned during the Industrial Revolution. Like many other revolutions, this one had blood on its hands too.

George’s grandfather James Bullough, the one who wore clogs his whole life, was born in 1799. When he started weaving as a seven-year-old, there was perhaps not much to distinguish him from other young boys in his home town. Except that he was born with two key qualities: creative abilities and a mind open to change.

As a young weaver in a cotton mill, he saw the Industrial Revolution hit with full force. Steam-driven monsters, the mechanised looms replaced the handlooms. Weavers who worked by hand lost their jobs. The new looms soon became a threat, a thief stealing bread and potatoes from the plates of large families. Many workers were already on starvation wages.
The weavers became desperate. Northern English factories were wrecked one after another by groups going by the name of ‘Luddites’. They were reportedly led by a self-appointed leader, General Ned Ludd, and they waged war on the machines. It is now doubtful whether their general actually existed, but nobody in their right mind could question that the Luddites were there in flesh and blood. The new looms and knitting machines were smashed in fury and desperation. In some cases, the factory owners were injured or killed. More often, soldiers shot into the crowds and killed the protesters. Everyone saw that the riots had to stop. The Government had to intervene; the Luddites had to be punished.
The fear that the French Revolution might spread set the backdrop for Parliament to introduce the death penalty for machine breaking. According to Karly Walters from the University of Birmingham, it wasn’t the physical destruction in itself that Parliament was afraid of. No, the arson and damage were a threat to property, the very foundation of the British state. It simply couldn’t be allowed for people to do whatever they liked in this way, and who could guarantee that other new-fangled French ideas wouldn’t spread over the Channel like dandelion seeds? Slogans like liberty, equality and fraternity, not to mention ideas about the separation between church and state or, as some whispered, God forbid, the abolition of the monarchy, and republicanism!
Only a few Members of Parliament defended the workers and spoke out against harsh penalties. The poet Lord Byron held a long speech in the House of Lords in 1812, in which he said, for example:

Are we aware of our obligations to a mob? It is the mob that labour in your fields, and serve in your houses – that man your navy, and recruit your army – that have enabled you to defy all the world, and can also defy you when neglect and calamity have driven them to despair. You may call the people a mob; but do not forget, that a mob too often speaks the sentiments of the people.
Even a poet of his stature could touch neither the hearts nor the minds of the Lords. In 1812, Parliament decided that the death penalty could be imposed on those who broke textile machinery. That year, a mill near Manchester was set on fire, twelve men were arrested by the police, suspected of arson. Four of the arrested were sentenced to death according to the newly passed Frame Breaking Act, which Lord Byron had found so reprehensible. The family of one of the condemned, Abraham Charlston, appealed to the authorities requesting that he be released. The boy was twelve years old. Spectators reported that he cried for his mother as he was being taken to the gallows. This was only one of the many death sentences that were handed down on weavers in the years that followed. The lucky ones were deported to the colonies. For life.

No, James Bullough was not one of the Luddites. Quite the opposite: he came up with inventions to improve the automated looms, with the result that he was chased away from his hometown by furious weavers afraid of unemployment. In the 1850s, he joined a company that made machines for the textile industry. Soon, his son John Bullough also became part of the company. These two generations would have one thing in common with Sir George Bullough: a particular fascination for new inventions. And it was these inventions by John and James that laid the entire foundations for the fortune of their heir George.

Kinloch Castle

Three hundred workers were needed to build Kinloch Castle on Rum. The red blocks of sandstone were transported to the island on small flat-hulled steamboats. The vessels were unrivalled for supplying places without proper harbours. Like Rum, for example. They simply sailed into the bay at high tide, unloaded at low tide, and sailed on, lightened, when the high tide lifted the boat back up.
Sir George was thoroughly characteristic of his time. His hunting estate and castle were in the heart of the Celtic lands, and what could be more natural than for his employees to dress up like real Scots. At least like Englishmen thought that Scots should look. The workers who built the Castle were paid an extra shilling a week to wear kilts. It is also said that the laird of the Castle paid them extra to smoke cigarettes, because the smoke kept the dreaded Rum midges at bay. That may make it sound like this insect is an especially aggressive, flesh-eating variant of the Scottish midge. And those who have stayed on Rum in the middle of the summer can confirm this is correct. In his childhood memoirs from Rum, Archie Cameron writes of a clan chief who, long ago, supposedly punished one of his subjects by stripping his clothes and tethering him to the ground with ropes and wooden pegs. The chief’s wife eventually took pity on the naked man, but it was too late. The swarms of the almost invisible insects had taken their fill so energetically that the man died of the bites.
The factor
Archie Cameron, who passed away a few years ago, was the last living person from Rum who could remember the time from before the First World War. His book describes well the skewed power relationships between ordinary people and ‘the rest’. His parents worked for the Bullough family, but that didn’t help much when Archie fell out with the island’s factor. Without asking the factor for permission, Archie and a friend had borrowed a boat to go fishing. The factor, who was an especially power-hungry example of the species, gave Archie a fine of one pound. That was equal to half a month’s pay, and Archie wrote a letter to Sir George Bullough to protest against the fine. The complaint never reached him. Bullough’s secretary sent the letter back to the factor, who promptly docked Archie’s pay and increased the penalty: he was given a month to leave Rum. With no chance to appeal, Archie Cameron had to leave the only place he knew, leaving his mother, father and six brothers and sisters. It was 1920, and Archie was seventeen.
In his book Bare Feet and Tackety Boots, all artillery is set on the factors as an occupational group. They demanded rent on behalf of the lairds, fined poachers and banished those who didn’t behave satisfactorily. They were prosecutor, judge and appeal court all at the same time. When the history of the Clearances is written, it is often the factors who are accorded the blame for injustices, while the lairds get away free. Cameron writes that the dual curses of the Highlands are the midges and the factor, but the factor is the worst. But, as Tom Atkinson writes in the foreword to Bare Feet, it was always the proprietor who had the ultimate responsibility when the factor threw families out of their homes and set fire to their roofs, or committed other atrocities. The same goes for Rum too: it was the laird Sir George Bullough who employed the factor.
Lady Bullough: Divorce, rumours and scandals
Rum soon became known as ‘the forbidden island’. It was only guests of Sir George and his wife, Lady Bullough, who were welcome. Others were chased away. Not by the laird and his wife themselves, of course. The Rum estate had around a hundred employees in the hectic periods when the Bullough couple and their guests took over the Castle for a few weeks every autumn, during the hunting season.
Lady Bullough was of French origin. Her family was descended from Napoleon Bonaparte’s sister, at least according to Lady Bullough, and why would she lie? Her ancestors lost everything when they fled to England in 1791 to escape the carnage that accompanied the French Revolution. Or perhaps it should be seen like this: they at least held on to their lives, unlike many other French aristocrats.

When the poor French aristocrat Monica Lily first met Sir George Bullough, she was married. In the court case that dissolved the marriage between Monica and her first husband, Sir George was cited as the one responsible for the break-up. The divorce was finalised in May 1903, and Monica and George’s wedding was celebrated at Kinloch Castle in June that year.

It was rumoured that she had been the lover of the Prince of Wales, who had become King Edward VII when his mother, Queen Victoria, died in 1901. In that case, Monica Lily would have been one of several women who made the marriage between Edward and Alexandra of Denmark somewhat crowded. Another lover, Alice Keppel, was even invited to the King’s deathbed when he was dying in 1910. Perhaps it would have been some consolation to Edward and Alice if they had known that, in a way, they would meet again. Their respective great-great-grandchildren would also become lovers: Prince Charles and Camilla Parker Bowles.
It is said that today’s monarchy is threatened by all the scandals connected to members of the Royal Family. Even the Queen stumbled slightly when Diana, Princess of Wales died. But aren’t they just following in the footsepts of their forebears? Widowed Queen Victoria, dressed in black, managed to acquire the nickname Mrs Brown. The family’s scandals have also sown a tendency to emigrate, like Edward VII’s daughter, who became Queen Maud of Norway and would get entangled by rumour-mongering. And if you think that the members of today’s Royal Family engage in especially sensational acts, what size of headline fonts would the Sun or the Daily Mirror have used about, for example, Henry VIII or Richard III?
A morning at Kinloch Castle
So what was life on Rum like during Sir George Bullough’s regime? Let me try to reconstruct a day. The guests, who had maybe been drinking wine and smoking cigars long into the night, were woken by bagpipes at eight o’ clock. They may have put a pillow over their heads to block out the piercing sound. What a barbarous din! Hadn’t they gone there to enjoy the silence? But some early birds sat up, leaning against their soft down pillows to listen. They really were a long way from home; this was pretty exotic, no doubt about it!
It was difficult to get back to sleep after having been torn out of it by bagpipes, so they might as well get up. That day they were going hunting, that was why they’d come to visit George and Monica Bullough. Many had headaches, if we are to believe one of the guests, a certain Harry Hinton:

[…] we sat around the table and drank until two o’ clock at night. I did this for two nights; after that I began to go to bed as soon as dinner was over. I have never met such a group of sportsmen, and they rarely shot anything […].

A few now staggered out of bed, putting on their silk dressing gowns and ditto slippers to go to the bathroom. Perhaps a shower could get rid of old perfume or the smell of cigars, but how were they supposed to attack this water-spouting monster in the bathroom? Who had seen anything like it before? Confound George and his fascination for new-fangled inventions!
The brass taps sent warm water to showerheads placed at different heights. The streams were aimed at different parts of the body. In other words, if they managed to understand the intricate system of pipes, they could direct the streams wherever they wanted. A conventional choice was, of course, to turn on a tap that brought the water down onto your head from above. Another showerhead persuaded the water to shape itself into a gorgeous, massaging ribbon around the neck. Ah, that helped with the headache! Or they could turn on the so-called ‘spray’, which sent needle-like drops through the air like heat-seeking missiles. While the daring, or the unknowing, turned on ‘the jet’ and received a column of water directly into their crotch.

After having mastered the hypermodern shower, it was critical to get dressed in the right outfit. Maybe the guest had to borrow a few items of clothing, as the previous day had been unusually wet even for Rum, and the clothes brought up from London were still hanging to dry. Then they pulled on some breeches and a Rum tweed jacket before going down to breakfast. And what a breakfast! They could help themselves to fruit from the heated greenhouses in the garden: apricots, grapes, figs, strawberries! This was something to write home about. Indeed, their host had even changed the island’s name and printed his own stamps that said ‘Rhum’. With an ‘h’. Maybe George Bullough had changed the name because he was fed up of inebriated guests’ jokes and allusions to the drink by the same name. ‘Ha ha, do you get the joke, Sir George?’ But who knows: one old gravestone in the churchyard does actually say ‘Rhum’.

Deer and alligators
After breakfast, the horses were fetched from the stables and waited patiently by the ghillies, from the Gaelic word for ‘boy’ and equivalent to the notion of ‘boy’ in the colonies. The ghillies tracked down animals, killed them and transported the game, or sat at the oars on fishing trips. The party moved slowly up towards the mountains with Old Norse names: Trollabhal, Hallival, Askival, Ruinsival. If they were really lucky, they went home with three deer over their horses’ backs. And if a novice in the group shot his (or her) first deer, they would have a handful of blood from the dead creature smeared on their face, to their disgust (or delight). Naturally, this ritual led to considerable fuss, especially from those who had invested in a tweed outfit for the occasion. But, as Archie Cameron remarks in his memoir, if they just let the deer blood dry, they could brush it off like powder.
Not everyone wanted to go hunting, though. Maybe some stayed at the Castle, where there was plenty to do. A stroke of golf on the course, or squash, or maybe a round of bowling? They could also go for a stroll, preferably with a midge net over their face, and admire the gardens: the Italian garden and the rose garden. Or what about the Japanese one? There was also a certain entertainment value in visiting the heated ponds where turtles swam. Sometimes these may have ended up in the French chef’s soup in the Castle’s kitchen. The story goes that one of the turtles unfortunately swallowed a diamond ring. The ring fell into the pool by accident, and the greedy animal thereby sealed its own and all the other turtles’ deaths. They were rowed out and released straight into the sea, an especially unfit place for these tropical creatures. It didn’t go so well for the alligators either, at least not when they reached adult size, or escaped from their cages. In either case they would be shot so that they didn’t disturb the guests.
Dinner at Kinloch Castle

Before dinner, there was perhaps table music with drinks. Sir George had bought in a so-called ‘orchestrion’ that Queen Victoria had reportedly ordered for Balmoral Castle. But then she died in 1901 and would never use it, so Sir George, with his fascination for all technical gadgets, bought the instrument. It was very popular and modern when it was installed at Kinloch Castle, but it soon had to concede first place to the much smaller and more practical gramophone, which appeared around the First World War.
So, before they went into the dining room, Bullough’s guests stood there, probably speechless with wonder and terror, watching the rolls of perforated paper slowly turn in the orchestrion. The notes from Wagner’s Lohengrin, apparently from a fully-populated orchestra, resounded off the walls. Bass drums, snare drums, cymbals and triangles lifted the music towards an enthusiastic crescendo. The mood was really given a boost at drinks together with this musical monster. Soon, the men offered the ladies their arm and proceeded, eager and laughing, into the dining room, which was furnished with tables and chairs from the yacht Rhouma. And what tastes better than deer you’ve shot yourself? True, it had been carved and filleted by the servants, but still. After dinner, the men and the women departed separately. The men retired to the smoking room. Perhaps they took a round of pool – that went down well – or they played cards or roulette. Maybe they discussed politics, such as the relevations about King Leopold’s enterprises in the Congo Free State. The outrages made even the British get worked up, although they were hardly above reproach themselves when it came to misconduct in Africa. Some of the gentlemen had just come home from the other side of the Atlantic, where they had read the interview with the American Mark Twain in the Boston Daily Globe. Maybe they brought out the newspaper, and the men in the smoking room peered over each other’s shoulders to read the columns in which Twain launched his assault on the Belgian king:

I have seen photographs of the natives with their hands cut off because they did not bring in the required amount of rubber. If Leopold had only killed them outright it would not have been so bad; but to cut off their hands and leave them helpless to die in misery – that is not forgiveable.
It was not just the human rights advocate and opponent of slavery Mark Twain who got involved. Brits, such as Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, had also become involved, shocked by the accounts from British missionaries, and some of the gentlemen in the smoking room might have read Joseph Conrad’s Heart of Darkness. But there were also other political affairs that affected Britain more directly, such as the war between Japan and Russia. The British supported Japan, in fact Sir George Bullough had again sent Rhouma to distant seas to play a role in another war taking place far from Britain. This time, his yacht would host the delegations participating in peace negotiations in 1905. In gratitude for his help, the Japanese emperor sent a couple of incense holders and an enormous monkey-eating eagle, all in bronze, to Sir George, who placed them in his castle on Rum.
The ladies, on the other hand, retired to the afternoon warmth of the pastel-coloured rooms. Out of the French windows, they could watch the changing colours across Loch Scresort. A door led out onto the glass veranda, where hummingbirds quivered in the air above tropical plants. Until the birds unfortunately froze to death: the climate wasn’t exactly right for hummingbirds. So as not to bother the ladies with the time, the large wall clock only had one hand. The minutes didn’t count at Kinloch Castle. At least not for the guests. Perhaps the ladies chatted about the day’s hunt, or discussed, blushing with outrage or excitement, Sigmund Freud’s latest book, in which he claimed that the child was a sexual being, indeed that sexuality was a driving force for all people. Which must mean that this also included them! Maybe Lady Bullough agreed with his theories, it is said that she was quite broad-minded, even that it is her who is pictured naked on an animal skin in a painting on the first floor.
A ball at Kinloch Castle
Some evenings there was a ball in the ballroom. But why did the musicians have to play behind a curtain in the gallery? And why were the drinks served through an opening in the wall? Both things were planned to prevent the servants from seeing what was going on in the ballroom. Furthermore, the windows were placed high up on the wall, so nobody outside in the dark could sneak around and peep into the lit room. Such devices certainly got the imagination going. The air was thick with rumours. Did Sir George have other interests than his wife? Was he more interested in men? And, we may wonder, why are these stories so persistent that the Castle’s guide still recounts them? Might the answer lie in the American journalist Walcott’s long-drawn sigh in the magazine Vanity Fair: ‘Why are British sex scandals so much better than ours?’

If Sir George wasn’t a family man in the usual sense while he was alive, he was at least a family man in matters of death. He moved his father from his grave in England to the west side of Rum, where only ruins were left from the villagers who had been thrown out of their homes seventy years earlier. His stone coffin was placed firmly in a solid rock wall, until an outspoken guest apparently pointed out to George that the tiles in the entranceway leading into the mausoleum were reminiscent of a public toilet at Waterloo Station. It is possible that, after that, George wasn’t able to visit the grave without his thoughts digressing to urinals and sweaty train passengers. He moved his father’s stone casket once more, and the old grave was blown up with a good dose of dynamite. This time, Sir George had built a Greek-inspired temple in Doric style, with a view out to sea. Now John Bullough rests there, together with his son George and his daughter-in-law Monica.
The circle is closed
Today, Kinloch Castle is open to the public. Wide open, you might say, in stark contrast to when the island and the Castle were even closed to sailors wanting to fill up their fresh water tanks. During my tour of the Castle, I feel like I am getting an insight into the private life of the Bullough couple. The Castle is frozen in time. It appears almost as it was left in 1957, when it was sold to the state, together with the rest of Rum, at far below the market price, to what is today Scottish Natural Heritage. It is as if Lady Bullough, who had then been a widow for eighteen years, got up one day from her four-poster bed, which reportedly belonged to Marie Antoinette, took a shower, got dressed and cast a glance out of the French windows before nodding to herself. She had decided. Kinloch Castle and the island of Rum would be sold to someone who would protect nature on the island, and hopefully also the Castle if that was possible. Perfume and wine bottles could stay. As could the boots of her husband George. They were by the fireplace in his bedroom, as if they were waiting for him to stick his feet in them and wear them on another deer hunt in the hills.
The large hall on the ground floor is filled with memories from journeys in another era, when Rhouma took George and his friends to other continents a hundred years ago. A lion skin with the head on. The lion’s mouth gapes, baring its teeth, its fake pink tongue and gums never having tasted flesh from the savannah. A leopard skin festoons the Steinway grand piano, hiding scratches from a wild party. The leopard’s paws grip round the polished corners of the piano. Alongside stands the bronze eagle from the grateful Japanese emperor. Two large portraits of George and Monica Bullough look down from the first floor. He is wearing a kilt of Rum tweed. While he is fierce and dressed for the wilds, Lady Bullough is delicate and ready for the ballroom. A beautiful woman with a distant smile. Her pearl necklace reaches down to her navel, and her soft, brown dress has a deep neckline revealing her white neck and her upper bosom.
In 2009, the population of ‘the forbidden island’ voted: did they want to take over parts of the island from SNH? They voted yes. Now, for the first time, they can buy their own houses and plan for the future. Old plots, those that were once left by the crofters who were forced to emigrate, will be apportioned and cultivated again. The circle has been closed.

From Mallaig to Skye
The Isle of Skye. Or An t-Eilean Sgitheanach, as the largest island of the Inner Hebrides is called much more lyrically in Gaelic. The original meaning of the name is as hidden as the mountains shrouded by the heavy mist that often rests above the second-largest island of the Hebrides, but Munro, who travelled to Skye in 1549, claimed that the Gaelic name meant ‘winged isle’. Yes, Skye has wings, promontories stretching out in every direction, like an outstretched skin rug. All these headlands have names of Norse origin: Waternish, Trotternish, Duirnish, Minginish. So what do they mean? There is some uncertainty about the Norse meanings, but how about ‘water point’, ‘Thrond’s point’, ‘animal point’ and ‘main point’? And is the name Skye itself also of Norse origin? In Icelandic sagas, Skye is called Skyd, or variants of this, ‘the cloudy isle’. There are certainly heavy clouds above Skye too.
The ferry to Skye also goes from the small, busy fishing harbour of Mallaig. On the other side of the sound, Sleat, or Slettr in Old Norse, makes up the southern portion of Skye. A lush prelude to the Black Cuillin, a chain of rough, ragged, dark peaks. They cut their way sharply through the mist. There are twenty so-called ‘Munros’ in the Cuillin, mountains 3,000 feet high or more. The Munros are named after the mountaineer Sir Hugh Munro, who mapped the Scottish mountains at the end of the 1800s and published a list of peaks over 3,000 feet – or about 915 meters above sea level. Now, maybe that height doesn’t sound that impressive compared with mountains in other European countries, but these mountains don’t rise from an Alpine plateau, they rise straight from sea level. And when the crumbly volcanic slopes become wet, the porous substrate becomes lethally slippery. Furthermore, the sea mist can quickly cover all paths, all cairns, all cliff-edges. During a trip I made to Skye in 2009, yet another climber had been killed. Another was seriously injured.
East of the jagged mountains there rise mountains of another kind: the Red Cuillin. Unlike their threatening, lava-black sisters, these are made of friendly red granite. From a distance, the round, rusty-brown peaks appear silhouetted against the cloud layer, and grey strips of gravel run down the slopes, like petrified streams.

Loch Coruisk
The black and white CalMac ferry that goes to Skye, MV Coruisk, foams into Mallaig before slowing down and docking neatly at the pier, where most of the passengers wait in hillwalking boots, with telescopic walking sticks and giant rucksacks. ‘The Islands afford few pleasures, except to the hardy sportsman,’ Dr Johnson warned in 1773. And further: ‘To the southern inhabitants of Scotland, the state of the mountains and the islands is equally unknown with that of Borneo or Sumatra. Of both they have only heard a little, and guess the rest. They are strangers to the language and the manners […].’ Much has changed since Dr Johnson went to Skye. One edition of the Rough Guide travel books also warns visitors, but that’s where the similarities with Dr Johnson’s warnings end. The problem now is rather that far too many people have heard about Skye:
Since the opening of the Skye Bridge, the island has been busier than ever, and at the height of the summer the road system often begins to bottleneck with coach tours, minibuses and caravans.

Ferrymen in helmets and yellow high-visibility vests tie the hawsers. The cars on the deck rev up their engines and drive ashore, before those of us waiting in a tidy queue are waved aboard. Not much of a queue though, there aren’t many cars today. There’s been a fatal accident on the narrow, winding road to Mallaig. Again. Those who had booked tickets for this last ferry this evening are stuck in long tailbacks and won’t make it in time. The Coruisk leaves Mallaig almost empty-handed on course for Armadale on Sleat.
The ferry is named after Loch Coruisk, a deep inland loch from the ice age, surrounded by the Cuillin. One of the earliest paintings of the loch dates from 1831, when the artist J. M. W. Turner travelled around Scotland to create illustrations for Sir Walter Scott, and they say that he almost fell to his death from one of the crags as he painted. The clear, deep loch would soon become a destination for national romantic artists and Victorian climbers. The loch’s force of attraction has not diminished over the years, drawing in people from across the world. It would, therefore, be a major exaggeration to say that I was alone the first time I visited Loch Coruisk. A small boat, heading to the outlet where the loch runs out towards the sea, was fully loaded with other people who also wanted to see the dark water in the wild, empty landscape. The result was of course that the loch was neither wild nor empty, it was teeming with Italians under umbrellas, South Africans in khaki and Japanese with binoculars. What’s more, it was a warm, clear day with not a cloud nor a swirling patch of mist to help make the landscape more dramatic. If it hadn’t been that Coruisk was so wrapped in legend, I wouldn’t have given the place another chance.
The second time I was practically alone. The loch lay there, deep and shining. The peaks of the Cuillin were wrapped in soft, thick mist and a cold breeze brushed against me from the mountain passes down to the loch. No trees drowned out the echo of footsteps, the slopes were steep and harsh, no fish were making ripples in the water. Only a gull or two made a sweep across the loch before turning back to the sea. The water was clear and apparently bottomless, and what looked from a distance like white beaches were pale pebbled shallows. This was Turner and Scott’s Coruisk as they had admired it two hundred years ago.
‘Cuillin for sale’
In the spring of 2000, the news broke: the twenty-ninth chief of Clan MacLeod, John, announced that he would be selling the Cuillin range. The price tag was 10 million pounds, no less. The money would go to repairing Dunvegan Castle, the MacLeods’ seat on Skye for more than 800 years. The plan was also to build a large hotel to house some of the around 150,000 tourists who pour in annually. The Castle was in such a bad state, John MacLeod of MacLeod told the New York Times, that visitors had to use umbrellas in the bedrooms.

The Scottish nation, natural conservation organisations and the Crown Estate which, until then, had taken for granted that the mountains were public property, were more than incredulous when they heard the proposal from Dunvegan. Sell the Cuillin? On the private market? But MacLeod referred to old documents issued by the Scottish monarchy in the 1400s and 1600s. They clearly showed that the mountains belonged to the MacLeods, and the yellowed papers were so legally sound that the state did not take the case to court. But, objected many, this was a moral case, not a legal one. ‘These mountains are bigger than one person, bigger even than one nation,’ according to Bill Birkett, one of Britain’s most distinguished mountaineers and author of books on the outdoors. ‘Their spirit and soul lie within all the people that love and respect the freedom of wild places,’ he wrote in a letter to the local newspaper based on Skye, the West Highland Free Press.
When it was made clear that MacLeod couldn’t be prevented from selling the Cuillin, the attacks came flooding from conservationist and outdoor organisations: this was nothing but blackmail! MacLeod was betting that organisations or the state would be forced to cough up to prevent a private property speculator from snapping up Britain’s most famous mountains as if he were buying a painting from Christie’s.

For three years, the matter circulated between newspapers, climbers, island residents and lawyers. A mysterious person also turned up as a potential buyer, at least according to John MacLeod of MacLeod. The solicitors of the anonymous millionaire had sensibly enough written a list of 66 questions about the purchase. You could say that they were expecting some kind of liability linked to this unique plot. But nobody could find out who this buyer was. MacLeod would not answer the New York Times’ questions about the suspicious interested party, and many wondered if he actually existed. Fictitious buyers had, of course, been a trick used in the sale of Eigg too. They could be useful for so many things: pushing up the price, and forcing the state into making a purchase.

It all ended up with the clan chief performing an about turn in 2002. The Cuillin would be donated to the nation. A gift from the chief of Clan MacLeod to Scotland. In return, Dunvegan Castle would be transferred to a charitable trust. The cost of repairs, which had risen from 7 to 10 million in three years because the roof had deteriorated fast, would be paid by the trust. For many, this was yet another con; the people would be given a gift that already belonged to them, in exchange for footing the bill for a roof that was leaking more than ever. A bad deal, many thought. The feelings being expressed in newspaper letters and in conversation also had historical roots. A resentment echoing far into the past, from the time when clan chiefs sold land that had once been seen as the clan’s collective property. Others saw the decision as a practical solution contributing to the conservation of two of Skye’s greatest sights.
Dunvegan Castle, at the heart of the conflict, stands tall atop the sea cliffs by the small village of Dunvegan, unruffled by all the trouble. Dr Johnson spent the night in the Castle and wrote in his travel journal:

Dunvegan […], which is the principal seat of MacLeod, is partly old and partly modern; it is built upon the rock, and looks upon the water. It forms two sides of a small square: on the third side is the skeleton of a castle of unknown antiquity, supposed to have been a Norwegian fortress, when the Danes were masters of the Islands. It is so nearly entire, that it might have easily been made habitable, were there not an ominous tradition in the family, that the owner shall not long outlive the reparation. The grandfather of the present Laird, in defiance of prediction, began the work, but desisted in a little time, and applied his money to worse uses.
If John MacLeod, the clan chief who wanted to sell the Cuillin to repair his castle, knew of this ‘ominous tradition’, at least he wasn’t worried about it. He died shortly afterwards, in 2007, and was buried within the walls of Kilmuir Kirk at Dunvegan, alongside several generations of clan chiefs. Ironically enough, the small kirk has no roof, thanks to the Reformation, but the raindrops probably no longer bother the clan chief who wanted to sell Skye’s soul.
MacLeod’s Tables
A number of mountains on Skye are connected to the MacLeods. Northwest from Dunvegan two striking mountins rise up from Skye. They look as if the peaks had been levelled with a cheese slicer. MacLeod’s Tables.
One of the most powerful chiefs of the Clan MacLeod, Alasdair Crotach, ‘the Humpbacked’ ruled in the 1500s. The story goes that Alasdair was once a guest at a royal banquet in the Palace of Holyroodhouse in Edinburgh, the official residence of the Scottish monarchy. During the banquet, Alasdair was asked if he had experienced similar hospitality on Skye. This was hardly a question, as Alasdair Crotach could see too, but rather a subtle way of humiliating the Highland chieftain. Look what we’ve got in the Lowlands: you haven’t got anything like it on the islands! But Alasdair didn’t hang his head and blush. No, now he would arrange a much more classy party that would impress the blasé visitors from Edinburgh. The sarcastic, inquisitorial man from the banquet was later invited to Skye and escorted up to the top of Healabhal Mhòr, the lower of the two flat-topped mountains near Dunvegan. The starry sky made a sparkling ceiling. The place was set for a party, just as Alasdair Crotach had promised. Torches threw light and shadows over a wonderful banquet, and the clansmen holding the torches were much more valuable than any candelabra. Said Alasdair MacLeod.
Sleat
The CalMac ferry Coruisk docks at the Armadale ferry landing in the southern part of the island, nicknamed ‘the Garden of Skye’. Here, remains of the original deciduous woodlands thrive, the ancient forest that once covered the island. But, despite the grazing sheep, some of the steadfast trees have survived: hazel, ash, aspen, beech, rowan and oak. Trees that also have an important role in Celtic mythology and culture. The Gaelic alphabet has eighteen letters, which have traditionally been linked to names of trees or plants. A for ailm, B for beith, C for coll: elm, birch and hazel.
Not far from here, my grandparents used to run the Ardvasar Hotel in the 1940s. They leased the hotel from Lord MacDonald, the father of the current chieftain, who still has a seat on Skye. Of course, it was just after the war, but the tables at the Ardvasar Hotel were laid with white tablecloths and silver cutlery. The bar was only open to men. A single generator supplied the hotel with electricity, since Skye was not connected to the grid. Where there is now a car park, there used to be a barn. My mother, who went to school in Ardvasar, remembers an episode from when the clan chief had a different status and power than today. On the way to school, a young boy met the old chief, Lord MacDonald. The boy had manners, so he greeted him, saying ‘good morrrning, sirrr’ with a clear, rolled Highland -r. His lordship paid no attention to him, so the boy repeated ‘good morrrning, sir’. No reply. It was as if his lordship could neither hear nor see him. The polite boy made a third attempt. ‘Good morrrning, sirrr’, he said, almost shouting, and when the lord didn’t even turn his head towards him, the boy shouted in frustration: ‘Are ye deif, ye bugger?!’ His lordship was not deaf. Before long, he turned up at the school to complain about the boy’s behaviour.
Trumpan Church – ‘Remember the cave on Eigg’
It is early in the morning on the first Sunday of May in 1578. Kilconan Church, a small stone church with a thatched roof, is in the northwest of Skye, where you can see across to the Outer Hebrides. That is, normally you can see them. But not this day. The fog is lying low and thick, but that hasn’t prevented the members of the Clan MacLeod’s congregation from going to worship this Sunday. The small chapel has no windows, but streaks of light slip through a few openings.
In the bay below the church, eight boats scrape onto the beach. The men from the Clan Donald have sailed and rowed from South Uist, across the Little Minch, the stretch of sea that separates Skye from the Outer Hebrides. They have one aim. Revenge. The year before, all the MacDonalds on the isle of Eigg were massacred in a cave. Babies, infants, the elderly. Men and women. The MacLeods had ruthlessly set fire to a pile of twigs outside the cave, and the smoke that filtered into the cave made no distinction between guilty and innocent. Blessed be their souls. And the MacDonalds from South Uist promised they would not be forgotten. They could be ruthless too, if need be.
They walk in silence. The green grass, filled with daisy buds about to bloom, doesn’t give away the sound of their footsteps as they head for the small church. Song and voices can be heard from within the church walls. Perhaps they hear a baby crying. Maybe some of them think for a moment of their own children and question whether they are doing the right thing. Or perhaps their hearts are as hard as the steel of their swords. A flame is lit, and the fire soon spreads through the thatched roof. The churchgoers hear battle cries outside: ‘Remember the cave on Eigg!’ They suddenly understand what’s happening. One atrocity will be avenged with another. The MacLeods in the church die just as the MacDonalds in the cave died: suffocated by smoke. 
When the mission has been carried out, the MacDonalds retreat to their boats. They didn’t spot the young woman who got out of the church through an opening in the wall. She’s bleeding heavily, one of her breasts was torn off as she fled through the narrow crevice. She soon meets her own people, the MacLeods of Dunvegan Castle, who have been warned about the attack, and she tells them of the tragedy, but they don’t manage to get there in time. There isn’t a soul alive in the smoking remains. But in the bay below the church, the MacDonalds are busy fleeing. That’s easier said than done, because all their boats, apart from one, are on land. The tide is out.
The MacLeods hurry down to the shore, but it soon looks like the MacDonalds will win the battle, there are more of them. Suddenly, though, their fighting fortunes take a dramatic turn. The MacLeods have unfurled their magical banner, the silk ‘Fairy Flag’. Out of nothing, armed men appear and butcher the MacDonalds. When the fight is over, the bodies are stacked along a wall made of turf, and the winners push the wall down on top of the fallen. The struggle will forever be known as ‘the Battle of the Spoiling Dyke’. Only one boat gets away, and the men row westwards for dear life, fast back towards South Uist. But, writes the storyteller George MacPherson in his book Celtic Sea Stories, the chief of Clan MacLeod summoned a witch, who cast a spell on the vessel: may it never reach the Outer Hebrides! A large wave came from nowhere and smashed the boat to pieces.
And so it came to pass that none of the MacDonalds returned home to Uist. The murder of the MacLeods in the church did not bring the dead of the cave in Eigg back to life. And the death of the MacDonalds, now buried beneath the turf, did nothing to help the families lying in the crumbling, glowing ashes of the church. The events were only another turn in the spiral of violence between the two clans.
The Fairy Flag – or the Land-waster
The flag that saved the MacLeods, the Fairy Flag, still hangs at Dunvegan Castle, the oldest continuously inhabited castle in Scotland. It was woven in silk between 300 AD and 600 AD. That much has been proven, but then legend takes over. How did the flag end up with the Clan MacLeod? Hugh MacLeod of MacLeod, the thirtieth chief in his line, asks the question in a booklet about Dunvegan Castle. The clan has two explanations: either the flag was given as a gift from the fairy people or it was looted or bought during the Crusades. But the Crusades hadn’t begun when the flag was woven, and if we choose to exclude the fairy explanation, the question still remains open: how did the flag, which was made some time in the Middle East, end up in Scotland? And what are the origins of the legend that the flag will always lead the clan to victory, so that even MacLeod pilots took along pictures of the banner during their sorties in the Second World War?
It was the clan’s twenty-seventh chief, Sir Reginald MacLeod of MacLeod, who had the threadbare flag mounted in a glass frame. One day, he was listening to an expert, a certain Mr Wace, who had travelled the long distance to Dunvegan from one of the great London museums. The expert said that many things pointed to the flag having been taken to Britain by the Norwegian king Harald Hardrada, who the Clan MacLeod regard as an early ancestor. The expert from the Victoria and Albert Museum continued to explain that the Norwegian king had been plundering on his pilgrimage to the Middle East and looted the yellow, but now so faded, silk article. One thing backing up this theory, he asserted, was that Harald Hardrada had a banner that, according to Snorri Sturlason’s saga about the king, was his most prized possession. Called ‘Land-waster’, it was renowned for protecting the king in battle. According to the saga, when King Harald fell in the Battle of Stamford Bridge in 1066, the banner was in use. The saga says nothing of who saved it, and how it may have ended up on Skye. But men from the Hebrides, who were among Harald’s soldiers, could well have rescued the flag and held it in safe-keeping until, in one way or another, it ended up with the MacLeods.
Sir Reginald listened politely to the theory about Harald Hardrada and his flag before answering: ‘Mr Wace, you may believe that, but I know that it was given to my ancestor by the fairies.’

The decisive meaning of censorship
When Boswell and Dr Johnson were on Skye in 1773, they visited the clan chieftain Sir Alexander MacDonald at Armadale Castle on Sleat, in the south of Skye. Dr Johnson delivered poorly disguised criticism of his host, who had been educated at Eton in England. ‘Sir, the Highland chiefs should not be allowed to go farther south than Aberdeen. A strong-minded man […] may be improved by an English education; but in general, they will be tamed into insignificance.’ And Dr Johnson proceeds to inform his host how he would’ve acted if he had been a clan chief: ‘Were I in your place, sir, in seven years I would make this an independent island. I would roast oxen whole, and hang out a flag as a signal to the MacDonalds to come and get beef and whisky.’ In his own journal, Boswell writes that they tried to communicate some of their enthusiasm to Sir Alexander. At the same time, it shows through in Boswell’s account that his companion, Dr Johnson, oversteps the line in his eagerness to restore the old clan system. ‘I should not forgive myself,’ writes Boswell, ‘were I to record all that Dr Johnson’s ardour led him to say.’ But the truth was that Boswell did write down every sentence, only to censor them from his travelogue A Journal of a Tour to the Hebrides.

Is that not how all travelogues are written? How much bad blood would have been brought about if everything that was discussed and debated with others were printed? Suppose that I, as the traveller, were to relate everything that’s told to me on my journey. A number of the smaller isles in Scotland have a population of a few tens of people, others several hundred, and some have several thousand. But, more or less, everyone knows everyone else. People therefore censor what they say about others and are careful of whom they gossip with. Open conflicts in small places can split the community for generations. That’s why the writer, unless it is her intention to create conflict, must anonymise people or incidents if delicate matters are discussed. But in some cases this is impossible. The community is too transparent. Some may not think that what they are telling me might come out in print. It’s not always clear what is ‘off’ or ‘on’ the record. Neither to them, I expect, nor to me. We might establish an air of confidentiality, an intimacy that encourages us to speak from the heart. It can feel safe, maybe artificially safe, to confide in a stranger who is without self-interest in what happens in a small place.
On one of the islands, for example, I asked someone who works for the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds if he had read the books of Ian Mitchell. Mitchell is a journalist and an author who has written extremely critical, and often entertaining, books ridiculing the RSPB and other environmental organisations. My man from the RSPB hardened when I mentioned Mitchell’s name. Perhaps this was the end of our conversation, I thought. He probably wondered for a moment where I stood on Mitchell’s crusade against the RSPB’s reputation. If he had asked me, I wouldn’t have known what to answer. It isn’t just Mitchell who criticises the conservationists for having far too much power in rural Scotland, so there must be some substance in what he writes. ‘Spiteful nonsense,’ said the RSPB man, glaring at me defiantly. ‘He writes that the RSPB’s manager on Skye met him in furry slippers!’ He seemed deeply annoyed. ‘She’s never even owned any such thing!’ He then directed serious accusations against one of Mitchell’s relatives who has apparently come into conflict with the ornithological association. My man from the RSPB alleges that’s why Mitchell it out for revenge. He spits out his words. ‘He’s got an agenda against anyone who wants to protect birds and wildlife.’
After our conversation, I look up Mitchell’s book Isles of the West, and he has indeed described the slippers. It’s probably not accidental. He finds weak points in those against whom he bears a grudge. But supposing that the slipper claim is not true, then the question remains nonetheless: why doesn’t the RSPB representative attack the substance in Mitchell’s critique of environmental organisations? They are, after all, the largest private landowners on many of the islands. Some feel that the organisations live with the deluded aim of protecting the islands against their own inhabitants. In fact, maybe it would be the ideal situation for them if there weren’t any settlements on the islands at all? But the paradox is that many species that are extinct in England, from where many of the donations come, can still be found on the islands of Scotland. And isn’t the biodiversity on the islands precisely due to the population’s careful coexistence with and respect for their natural surroundings?
A ‘rude speech’
In 1773, when Dr Johnson was weighing down a horse’s back on the rough roads of Sleat, he probably passed the place where Sabhal Mòr Ostaig is to be found, Scotland’s only dedicated Gaelic college. Teaching is carried out through the medium of Gaelic, and the college offers language and cultural studies at undergraduate and postgraduate level as well as tuition in Gaelic music and singing. What would Dr Johnson have written in his travelogue had he encountered Sabhal Mòr Ostaig in 1773? The well-versed Englishman thought far from highly of this Celtic language:
Of the Earse [Gaelic] language, as I understand nothing, I cannot say more than I have been told. It is the rude speech of a barbarous people, who had few thoughts to express […] Earse never was a written language [and] there is not in the world an Earse manuscript a hundred years old […]. [T]here can be no polished language without books.

So it’s not only the language that gets ripped apart. The intellectual capacity of the Gaelic-speaking islanders isn’t much to write home about either (ignoring the fact that Johnson was wrong about it not being a written language). Fortunately, however, there are some exceptions. Johnson describes the select few men that he finds it interesting to converse with as ‘gentlemen’: clan chiefs, church ministers and a few other worthy English-speakers. Dr Johnson is frustrated, on the other hand, by the local population. He receives different answers to his many questions, depending upon whom he asks: ‘They have inquired and considered little, and do not always feel their own ignorance.’ Not that the islanders lie wilfully – no, it’s not that bad – the problem is that they can’t see the difference between what is true and what is false. And they have reflected so little on themselves and their lifestyle that they don’t understand the questions that Dr Johnson and Boswell pose to them.
Like so many travellers, Dr Johnson has no command of the language of the people about whom he’s writing. Not that this disturbs or worries him especially, since the language is in itself unfit for thinking elaborate thoughts. On what basis are his opinions formed then? On their strenuous journey, he and Boswell are constantly being helped by bilingual guides interpreting their questions to the local people. The two gentlemen enquire and dig for cultural customs, traditions and superstitions, and receive various answers diverging in all directions. Dr Johnson is irritated: good-for-nothings! Can’t a man get a straight answer?
But is he genuinely inquisitive? When he speaks with the chief of Clan Donald about the clan system, he lectures him about how he would have acted as chief. The conversation is marked by a complete absence of wondering or curiosity. Dr Johnson could have asked the chief about the advantages of changing the clan-based society such as, for example, the cessation of large-scale massacres. Instead, he fires away with whole spit-roast oxen and clean weapons, adding: ‘Sir, I would have a magazine of arms.’ Sir Alexander MacDonald answers calmly: ‘They would rust.’ Dr Johnson: ‘Let there be men to keep them clean. Your ancestors did not use to let their arms rust.’ Clearly, the nostalgist Englishman Dr Johnson came too late to see the proud Highlanders. All that was left, with a few honourable exceptions, as he says himself, were ignorance and poverty.
Dr Johnson was correct in some of his observations. Poverty was increasing. Overpopulation on the rise.  And the clan chiefs, that used to do everything to support their people, would soon do everything to get rid of them.

The Highland Clearances
[O]ne afternoon, as I was returning from my ramble, a strange wailing sound reached my ears at intervals on the breeze from the west. On gaining the top of one of the hills on the south side of the valley, I could see a long and motley procession winding along the road […] opposite Kilbride, and there the lamentation became loud and long. […] It was a miscellaneous gathering of at least three generations of crofters. There were old men and women, too feeble to walk, who were placed in carts; the younger members of the community on foot were carrying their bundles of clothes and household effects, while the children, with looks of alarm, walked alongside. […] The people were on their way to be shipped to Canada. I have often wandered since then over the solitary ground of Suishnish. Not a soul is to be seen there now, but the greener patches of field and the crumbling walls mark where an active and happy community once lived. (Archibald Geikie, Scottish Reminiscences, 1904)
It was October 1853. The first snow had fallen. The factor of Lord MacDonald’s land had removed all the furniture from the houses of the destitute tenants in Suishnish, in the south of Skye. It made no difference that some were very old or babies. Their houses had to be destroyed in case the exiled people tried to go back. But one man did go back home. He was found the following morning. Frozen stiff, dead by the door to his old house, in ruins, writes the historian Eric Richards in The Highland Clearances.
One of the banished families took refuge in a wretched building that was ‘unfit for sheep or pigs’, according to a newspaper of the time, the Northern Ensign. Six people shared a bed of straw that separated them from the damp earthen floor. The newspaper went on: ‘On Wednesday last the head of the family, William Matheson, a widower, took ill and expired on the following Sunday. His family consisted of an aged mother, 95, and his own four children – John 17, Alex 14, William 11, and Peggy 9. When a brother-in-law of Matheson called on the family, he found Matheson lying dead on the same pallet of straw on which the old woman rested. Her face and arms were the colour of lead. It was clear that she was starving. There also lay Alexander and Peggy, sick. The orphaned children lay stretched out one on each side of their old grandmother.’
It remained to get rid of the last inhabitants of the area. In January 1854, the factor returned to Suishnish. There was a blizzard. Among those who were forced out into the storm was Neil MacInnes, his young daughter-in-law and her baby. The child was four weeks old.
[…]

THE OUTER HEBRIDES

An encounter with a weaver

‘D. J. & M. D. Mackay Luskentyre Harris Tweed Company’ reads the text on a green sign next to the road, past the churchyard. Donald John and Maureen Mackay’s tweed weavingloom mill shed and tweed outlet. Real Harris Tweed is stocked here. The weaver Donald John has just come home from New York, from a Scottish sales exhibition as part of Tartan Week.

A casual passer-by could be fooled into thinking that the modest premises indicate this is an insignificant local shop where the proprietor weaves to put food on his plate. In 2004, Donald John received a call from the shoe manufacturer Nike. They wanted to make shoes – out of Harris Tweed. ‘We need around 10,000 metres of material,’ said Nike. Donald John could barely believe his ears.

Donald John has been a weaver all his life. Like his father. And his grandfather. And like all the others working in the craft trade on the islands, he claimed that he never learnt the job. Watching the shuttle going back and forth was a part of his upbringing. He is paid between £12 and £17 per metre, depending on the quality. Machine-woven cotton fabric is sold at fivefold sums by interior design companies. ‘Isn’t it possible to get higher prices?’ I ask in disbelief, indignant at the underpayments. ‘Well, if you put up the price, then there’s the risk that… I don’t know, I don’t know, we’re holding on like this anyway, so…’

Hairy rolls of material lie stacked on wide shelves. A tweed jacket dangles from a coat hanger, tweed caps lie spread across a workbench. Shoulder bags in a classic black-and-white zigzag pattern hang on a hook. Donald John shows me the only pair of Nikes he has left. He did have two pairs, but he donated one of them to an auction to raise funds for the victims of the tsunami in December 2004. The bidders queued up, as the shoes had already become collectors’ items.

Among the rolls of fabric I recognise the Nike pattern. ‘One moment.’ Donald John fetches a magnifying glass and holds it up in front of the green tweed. On the other side of the thick glass, an undergrowth of thin, colourful threads shoots up. I am taken aback and study the material without the magnifying glass. It looks green again. ‘This is what makes tweed so unique,’ says DJ, as he is known. ‘Every thread of wool that’s spun is in turn made up of five or six colours. It goes back to the times when wool was dyed with plants and people didn’t have enough dyestuff to colour larger amounts than, say, five kilos. But then they maybe had to dye twenty-five kilos, so they had to spin yarn in different colours.’

Harris Tweed got its colour from the fearless flora that thrives in the Outer Hebrides: the roots of the water lilies that float on the small lochans gave a black colour, lichen was scraped off grey rock to give a rich, reddish tint, the heather flowers provided a pastel green, the ribwort plantain gave a blue colour, the yellow groundsel served up a lemon shade, while the willow leaves gave a soft yellow. The plants, one sort at a time naturally, ended up in a large three-legged pot together with the wool, and were left to simmer until an experienced woman nodded and said yes, now we’ve got the right shade. Then came the turn of the next colour.

‘What makes the fabric so special is its vividness, the vibrancy, it makes it alive.’ Donald John’s grey eyes become alive too, in correlation step with his enthusiasm for the excellence of tweed. The combinations of colours were often secret recipes. Traditionally, tweed was often plain or undyed. It was only later that tweed became almost synonymous with the herringbone pattern, the black-and-white zigzag design.

Today there are over seven hundred colours to choose between, according to Donald John. Synthetic colours took over from the vegetable dyes long ago. The vegetable dyes were too cumbersome, and besides you never really knew how they would turn out. Nobody could have full control over the plants’ interaction with the wool.

From famine to the catwalk

The ‘Harris Tweed’ brand was born out of hunger and poverty in the 1800s. The potato blight came in with full force from 1846, and some years later, the Inverness Advertiser newspaper reported that the poor of Harris survived thanks to the compassion of their neighbours, and shells they gathered along the shore. But an extraordinary number of people had suffered a sudden death. This aroused the journalist’s suspicion: were people actually starving to death out there on the edge of the ocean? The newspaper blamed the owner of Harris, Lady Dunmore, and Her Majesty Queen Victoria for being completely unaware of the consequences of the famine.

How accurate was this assertion? The tweed industry was commercialised precisely around the time when Alexander and Catherine Murray, the Earl and Countess of Dunmore, owned Harris. But according to the ‘bible’ of Harris Tweed, the thick blue book The Islanders and the Orb by Janet Hunter, the facts end there, with different versions of the story taking over. A less known version came from Lady Dunmore’s son. His notes report that starving women from Harris used to knock on the door of the Dunmore estate to sell their home-woven tweed to her ladyship. The material was inspected, weighed, measured and paid for, and in the autumn the rolls of fabric were sent to the mainland and distributed to dealers in England and Scotland. According to her son, this took place from 1839, before the great famine disaster that lasted from 1846 to 1850. So how could the Inverness Advertiser accuse Lady Dunmore of ignoring the people on her estate slowly turning into skeletons, with the children getting protruding knees, with the elderly bedbound and with the mothers unable to breastfeed their newborns? If her son’s version is true, Lady Dunmore was not unaware of the famine and tried to raise funds for the hungry.

But it is not this version that has been mythologised, writes Hunter. The popular account of the birth of the Harris Tweed industry has been repeated, somewhat uncritically it could well be said, in books, articles and official reports, as well as by the islanders themselves. The story of the Harris Tweed industry has begun to live its own life, it has been told so many times that it has become true. And maybe it is. It goes more or less like this: in 1844, Alexander Murray, Earl of Dunmore, ordered large quantities of Murray tartan tweed, the pattern that identified the Clan Murray. He wanted to dress up the gamekeepers and other employees on the estate. If this is true, Hunter writes, the Earl was one of the first estate owners to make his own uniforms for his ghillies, a fashion that soon caught on. When Queen Victoria bought Balmoral four years after the Earl of Dunmore had dressed up his staff, the cult of the Highlands and of tartan was in full swing.

I asked the genealogist Bill Lawson on Harris if the Scottish clan system had any meaning at all in today’s society. ‘Only if you sell tartan!’ Bill shook with hilarity, but pulled himself together between the salvos of laughter. ‘Maybe clans have some meaning in some parts of the mainland, if the clan chieftain lives locally,’ he conceded. ‘But not here. How much tartan do you see around you, except at weddings? Most tartans are made up anyway. Many were invented in the 1800s, and now even football clubs have their own tartans too!’ He is right. Glasgow Rangers have their own tartan. So does Aberdeen Football Club.

So in the 1800s, the Highlands and the Western Isles were very popular, and the summer guests from the upper classes spent weeks on estates and at castles. The ladies painted, went for walks or embroidered, while the men cut down bracken, stamped through the heather, forced their way through the burns – ‘Ah! Such splendid clear air! – and hunted grouse and deer or fished for salmon in the rivers. ‘Jolly fine tweed, Sir,’ they might have said, admiring the Earl of Dunmore’s tweed suit. The ladies might have clasped their pale, well manicured hands; they could quite fancy their husband wearing a suit like that! Soon tweed was in demand in both London and Edinburgh. Lady Dunmore was delighted; this meant earnings for the poor islanders knocking on her door and begging for help. Their problem was that they did not have the necessary means or contacts to sell their material. But she did, and she used them, gladly even, is the impression we get. She sold the material to friends in higher circles and established contacts with firms in the big cities. And the prices and the demand grew. The Harris Tweed industry had begun.

A peculiar odour

As mentioned, there are several variants of the story about how Harris Tweed found its way onto the catwalk in New York, Tokyo or Paris. In any case, it is indisputably true that tweed soon became popular in the British upper classes. The rough, warm and water-repellent woollen fabric in natural colours was well suited to the image of a rugged hunter or fly fisherman. Tweed jackets, tweed trousers and tweed hats became the standard attire, whether for grouse hunting or for the pursuit of political careers. In the Harris author and BBC broadcaster Finlay J. MacDonald’s nostalgic and realistic autobiography Crowdie and Cream, he tells of the weak but unmistakable odour of wool and urine that spread out through the upper house of the British Houses of Parliament on damp days. The smell emanated mostly from the eldest aristocratic members of the House of Lords. And no, it was not leaking urinethey had not been caught short. The scent, which was discreet, it must be admitted, came from their high-quality tweed jackets, made in the old way and intended to last for their whole lives, at least. Perhaps the jackets were even inherited from their fathers, just like their titles and seats in the Lords. Now, readers may wonder what urine has to do with tweed. In Crowdie and Cream, MacDonald recounts how everyone in the family, as well as neighbours, guests and friends, were asked to use ‘the tub’ if they had to pass water. ‘Where do you keep the tub?’ was the Harris equivalent of the more mondaine ‘Excuse me, where is the bathroom?’ The tub, a large tank that stood in the barn or the outhouse, was slowly filled up, and the contents were left to sit until they reeked of a sharp stench that could chase a cat out to sea: ammonia. The foul-smelling liquid was ready for the job of dissolving the oil in the greasy, ready-woven woollen fabric. As well as fixing the vegetable dyes. On pre-war Harris, urine was the simplest, and the cheapest way of obtaining ammonia.

When the tweed leaves the weaver’s loom, it is stiff and hard. In order for the material to be useable for clothing and blankets, the stiffness and excess oil had to be beaten out properly. By waulking. In his book Back to the Wind, Front to the Sun, the late Angus MacLeod, from the neighbouring island of Lewis, tells his memories of waulking as the form of social gathering that it was. The women sat in pairs straight across from each other around improvised tabletops, and the warm, wet and oily tweed, reeking of urine from the tubs, was beaten and kneaded to rhythmic waulking songs until it had been cleansed of superfluous oil, shrunk and twisted to the correct length and breadth and softened so that it would be good to wear. The shrinking would ensure that the tweed jacket would never tighten on its owner’s shoulders, even if it became damp. And if one day it should feel tighter, that could not be blamed on the tweed.

Today, waulking, urine in the tweed and inherited titles in the House of Lords are all anachronisms, but perhaps a few lords are still sauntering around the Houses of Parliament wearing a hand-beaten tweed jacket from the interwar period, emanating a faint fragrance of urine.
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